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O’ROURKE, J.

Lars Gentry, Henry Camp, Mike Hyder, James Conboy, William Pommerening, and Michael Osacky (appellants) appeal a judgment of dismissal entered after the trial court sustained eBay, Inc.’s (eBay) demurrer to appellants’ second amended complaint without leave to amend.  In that pleading, appellants alleged eBay violated California’s Autographed Sports Memorabilia statute (Civ. Code § 1739.7) by failing to furnish a certificate of authenticity to persons who purchased autographed sports-related collectibles through its web site.  Appellants also alleged eBay was negligent and engaged in unfair business practices under the Unfair Competition Law (UCL) (Bus. and Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.) based on its failure to supply such certificates as well as its acts in distributing false certificates, permitting other false representations to be placed on its web site, and making its own false or misleading representations.  * * * * 

* * * * [W]e affirm the judgment of dismissal.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

eBay promotes itself as the world’s largest online marketplace for the sale of goods and services among its registered users.  It operates an Internet-based service in which it enables member sellers to offer items for sale to member buyers in what eBay characterizes as either auction-style or fixed price formats.  To better enable users to place items for sale on its site, eBay provides descriptions to its users under various product categories and subcategories.  For sports items, eBay’s web site has a sports product category with the following subcategories:  “Sports: Autographs”; “Sports:  Memorabilia”; “Sports:  Sporting Goods” and “Sports: Trading Cards.” eBay’s “Sports:  Autographs” subcategory is further organized into sub-subcategories to differentiate autographed sports collectibles by particular leagues.

In September 1995, various individuals embarked on a plan to sell faked autographed sports memorabilia to consumers.  Specifically, Angelo Marino, Gloria Marino, Gregory Marino, John Marino and Kathleen Marino (the Marino defendants) purchased sporting goods items and photographs from retail stores, forged signatures of professional athletes upon them, and employed Wayne Bray and Donald Frangipani to produce false certificates of authenticity for the items.  The Marino defendants then sold most of the forged items to Stanley Fitzgerald and Phil Scheinman, larger dealers who mostly used eBay auctions to eventually sell the forged items to consumers.  Stanley Fitzgerald did business as “Stan The Man Memorabilia” and “Stan’s Sports Memorabilia.”   Phil Scheinman did business as “Smokey’s Sportscard, Inc.”
Appellants are individuals who purchased forged autographed sports items including baseballs, photographs and autographed pieces of paper or “cuts,” from Fitzgerald, Scheinman or the Marino defendants through eBay. 
Intending to act on behalf of all purchasers of autographed sports collectibles purchased through eBay from September 1, 1995, to the time of trial, appellants sued the Marino defendants, Bray, Frangipani, Fitzgerald, Scheinman and eBay.  Their first-amended complaint asserted causes of action against eBay for negligence, violation of the UCL, violation of Civil Code section 1739.7 and for injunctive relief.  In that pleading, appellants alleged eBay, having identified itself as an auctioneer in press releases and provided a venue for auctions, “violated California law by either failing to provide a certificate of authenticity expressly warranting the [autographed sports memorabilia] or failing to insure that such a certificate was being provided by any other party to the auction.”   According to their allegations, during the class period, eBay auctioned thousands of items of sports memorabilia created by the Marino defendants, a substantial number of which were accompanied by fraudulent certificates of authenticity and “expert opinions” produced by Bray and Frangipani.  eBay charged placement fees to dealers listing an item for auction, and success fees (percentage fees) when items were sold.  Further, appellants alleged, eBay gave customers a false sense of confidence by maintaining a forum that permitted dealers and consumers to give positive or negative feedback to other dealers or consumers, giving endorsements to certain dealers based on the volume of sales and positive feedback ratings, and advising users it may suspend or terminate their account if it finds them to have engaged in fraudulent activity in connection with the web site.

Appellants alleged that as early as 1996, eBay received numerous complaints from consumers and warnings from governmental agencies that a substantial amount of forged sports memorabilia was being auctioned on eBay, but eBay ignored the warnings and allowed the forged sports memorabilia scheme to continue in order to continue to reap millions of dollars in profits for itself.

[After providing appellants several opportunities to amend their complaint to add new allegations, the trial court eventually dismissed the complaint in its entirety.]
DISCUSSION

* * * *

II.  Claim for Alleged Violation of the Autographed Sports Memorabilia Statute (Civ. Code § 1739.7)
* * * * Civil Code section 1739.7, entitled Autographed Sports Memorabilia, regulates the sale of autographed sports items, broadly termed “collectibles.”  (Civ. Code § 1739.7(a)(2).)  The statute generally forbids dealers of collectibles from representing an item as a collectible “if it was not autographed by the sports personality in his or her own hand.”  (Civ. Code § 1739.7(c).  It also places various obligations on such dealers.  Specifically, subdivision (b) of the statute requires dealers to provide certificates of authenticity of a prescribed form and content.  It provides in part: “Whenever a dealer, in selling or offering to sell to a consumer a collectible in or from this state, provides a description of that collectible as being autographed, the dealer shall furnish a certificate of authenticity to the consumer at the time of sale.  The certificate of authenticity shall be in writing, shall be signed by the dealer or his or her authorized agent, and shall specify the date of sale.”  (Civ. Code § 1739.7(b).)

The statute defines a dealer as follows:

“‘Dealer’ means a person who is in the business of selling or offering for sale collectibles in or from this state, exclusively or nonexclusively, or a person who by his or her occupation holds himself or herself out as having knowledge or skill peculiar to collectibles, or to whom that knowledge or skill may be attributed by his or her employment of an agent or other intermediary that by his or her occupation holds himself or herself out as having that knowledge or skill.  ‘Dealer’ includes an auctioneer who sells collectibles at a public auction, and also includes persons who are consignors or representatives or agents of auctioneers.  ‘Dealer’ includes a person engaged in a mail order, telephone order, or cable television business for the sale of collectibles.”
(Civ. Code § 1739.7(a)(4).)

* * * * Appellants contend they stated a cause of action against eBay under Civil Code section 1739.7 by alleging eBay is an auctioneer that engages in the sale or offer for sale of autographed collectibles in or from this state, provides descriptions of collectibles as being autographed, yet has never furnished the requisite certificates of authenticity under the statute.

* * * * 
As stated, liability as a dealer under Civil Code section 1739.7 requires that the dealer be exclusively or nonexclusively “in the business of selling or offering for sale collectibles in or from this state.” (Civ. Code § 1739.7(a)(4).)  Here, appellants’ specific allegations reveal eBay is not in the business of selling or offering to sell the collectibles at issue; rather, it is the individual defendants who sold the items to plaintiffs, using eBay as a venue.  In reaching this conclusion, we acknowledge we are required to construe appellants’ allegations liberally, with a view towards substantial justice between the parties.  * * * * 
The general allegation that eBay engages in the sale or offer for sale is irreconcilable with other, more specific allegations.  These allegations describe the specific operations of the individual defendants, expressly stating that the sellers of the forged items were Fitzgerald or Scheinman through their respective business entities.  As appellants alleged, the scheme began with the Marino defendants’ conduct in faking autographs of celebrated sports figures on baseballs, photographs and other collectibles and forwarding those items to Fitzgerald or Scheinman, who then placed them for sale on eBay by, in part, designating the appropriate categories contained on the web site.  These factual allegations control.  * * * * 

* * * * 

Notwithstanding our conclusion above, we additionally hold, under the facts presented, placing liability upon eBay for failing to provide a warranty under Civil Code section 1739.7 would be inconsistent with and hence preempted by * * * the Communications Decency Act * * * .  The operative provision of Section 230 states:  “[n]o provider or user of an interactive computer service shall be treated as the publisher or speaker of any information provided by another information content provider.”  (47 U.S.C.  §  230(c)(1).)  The statute further provides: 

“(e) Effect on other laws 

..........  
“(3) State Law 

“Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent any State from enforcing any State law that is consistent with this section.  No cause of action may be brought and no liability may be imposed under any State or local law that is inconsistent with this section.”  (47 U.S.C.  §  230(e)(3), emphasis added.)

In [Zeran v. America Online, Inc., 129 F.3d 327 (4th Cir. 1997) [Zeran]], the court held section 230, by its “plain language,” created a federal immunity to any cause of action that would make interactive service providers liable for information originating with a third-party user of the service.  (
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* * * * 
Subsection (c)(1) of section 230 thus immunizes providers of interactive computer services (service providers) and their users from causes of action asserted by persons alleging harm caused by content provided by a third party.  This form of immunity requires (1) the defendant be a provider or user of an interactive computer service; (2) the cause of action treat the defendant as a publisher or speaker of information; and (3) the information at issue be provided by another information content provider.  (47 U.S.C.  §  230(c)(1).)
Appellants concede for purposes of this appeal that eBay is an interactive computer service provider.  And appellants do not expressly challenge the application of section 230 to liability based on content placed on eBay’s web site by eBay’s users or other third parties.  Rather, they contend section 230 does not apply because they seek to enforce eBay’s independent duty under the statute to furnish a warranty as the “ ‘provider’ of descriptions,” not as a publisher.  We disagree.

The substance of appellants’ allegations reveal they ultimately seek to hold eBay responsible for conduct falling within the reach of section 230, namely, eBay’s dissemination of representations made by the individual defendants, or the posting of compilations of information generated by those defendants and other third parties.  Under section 230, eBay cannot be “treated as the publisher or speaker” of content supplied by other information content providers.  (47 U.S.C.  §  230(c)(1).)  If by imposing liability under Civil Code section 1739.7 we ultimately hold eBay responsible for content originating from other parties, we would be treating it as the publisher, viz., the original communicator, contrary to Congress’s expressed intent under section 230(c)(1) and (e)(3). 
In connection with appellants’ argument relating to the sufficiency of their Civil Code section 1739.7 cause of action, appellants point out they alleged eBay provided its own descriptions of collectibles through its lists of product categories, but also assert, to the extent the individual defendants created the ultimate descriptions of their faked collectibles, eBay provided those descriptions within the meaning of the statute by making them available to the users of its web site.  In opposition to eBay’s demurrer, they argued:

It does not matter under [Civil Code section] 1739.7 who ‘creates’ the original specific description of the memorabilia, because the obligation to furnish a warranty arises when a dealer ‘provides’ the description in offering or selling the item and the description characterizes the item as being autographed....  Therefore, although the specific description of an item originates with the seller, eBay, by making the description available over its auction website ..., then ‘provides’ the description to its consumers.

While the fact eBay does not create the description may be of no significance to liability under Civil Code section 1739.7 as appellants maintain, it is highly significant for purposes of assessing the application of section 230.  Appellants do not dispute the fact, judicially noticed by the trial court, that it was dealers Fitzgerald and Scheinman, not eBay, who chose their own category description for the item offered for sale.  Thus, for purposes of applying section 230 immunity, we consider it was the individual defendants who falsely identified the product as authentically autographed in order to place their items on eBay for sale.  On the basis of appellants’ allegations, holding eBay responsible for providing a warranty under Civil Code section 1739.7 when it merely made the individual defendant’s false product descriptions available to other users on its web site, or provided the web site on which the individual defendants designated their collectibles as autographed, puts eBay in the shoes of the individual defendants, making it responsible for their publications or statements.  We therefore conclude enforcement of appellants’ Civil Code section 1739.7 cause of action is inconsistent with section 230 because it would stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.  [Brackets, quotation marks, and citation omitted.] 
III.  Negligence Cause of Action
Apart from the cause of action under Civil Code section 1739, which we have held is barred, appellants’ negligence cause of action is based on allegations that eBay itself misrepresented the safety of purchasing items from the individual defendants and knew or should have known the individual defendants were conducting unlawful practices but failed to ensure they comply with the law.  In an attempt to plead around section 230 with respect to these causes of action, appellants generally allege eBay was an information content provider in that it was responsible for the creation of information, or development of information, for the online auction it provided through the Internet; that eBay did not act as an Internet service provider; and the information at issue (descriptions of collectibles as autographed) did not concern the publication of obscene or similarly objectionable materials. 
These conclusory and argumentative allegations are followed by more specific averments.  Appellants more specifically described the information purportedly developed by eBay for its “safety program,” identifying it as consisting of a color-coded star symbol, a Power Sellers endorsement, and a Feedback Forum.  Appellants alleged:

eBay encourages its users to rely upon its ‘Feedback Forum’ prior to engaging in a sales transaction.  The Feedback Forum purportedly allows dealers and consumers to rate a sales transaction with a compliment (a ‘Positive Feedback’), a criticism (a ‘Negative Feedback’), or other comments (a ‘Neutral Feedback’).  eBay has advertised that, ‘A positive eBay rating is worth its weight in gold.’   A dealer or consumer who achieves a designated level of Positive Feedback is awarded a star symbol display next to the user name, which is color coded to indicate the amount of Positive Feedback received by the user.  [¶ ] ...  In addition to the Feedback Forum, eBay designed a ‘Power Sellers’ endorsement, which purportedly is an award given to select eBay dealers based on the volume of sales and Positive Feedback ratings.  [¶ ] ...  In reality, however, eBay’s ‘safety’ programs have contributed to enormous damage to autographed sports memorabilia consumers.  For example, the Feedback Forum allows anyone to rate a dealer, even if there has never been a sales transaction between the parties.  Thus, Fitzgerald and Scheinman have at least hundreds of Positive Feedback ratings which are unrelated to any sales transactions.  Most, if not all, of these Positive Feedback ratings are self-generated or provided by other co-conspiring dealers.  (Bold in original; emphasis added by court.)

None of these allegations place eBay outside the immunity for service providers.  As eBay points out, the allegations reveal that eBay’s Feedback Forum is comprised of negative or positive information provided by third party consumers and dealers.  Likewise, the star symbol and “Power Sellers” designation is simply a representation of the amount of such positive information received by other users of eBay’s web site.  Appellants’ negligence claim is based on the assertion that the information is false or misleading because it has been manipulated by the individual defendants or other co-conspiring parties.  Based on these allegations, enforcing appellants’ negligence claim would place liability on eBay for simply compiling false and/or misleading content created by the individual defendants and other co-conspirators.  We do not see such activities transforming eBay into an information content provider with respect to the representations targeted by appellants as it did not create or develop the underlying misinformation.  We are constrained from enforcing such liability under California law because it would treat eBay as the publisher or speaker of the individual defendants’ materials, and thereby conflict with section 230.

We reach the same conclusion with regard to appellants’ general assertion that eBay knew or should have known about the individual defendant’s illegal or fraudulent conduct but failed to take steps to ensure they comply with the law.  This claim seeks to hold eBay responsible for having notice of illegal activities conducted by others on its web site, and for electing not to take action against those third parties, including by withdrawing or somehow altering the content placed by them.  This is the classic kind of claim that Zeran found to be preempted by section 230, as one that seeks to hold eBay liable for its exercise of a publisher’s traditional editorial functions.  Such claims have been uniformly rejected by the courts that have considered them.
Finally, taking as true the fact eBay makes the statement on its web site that a positive eBay rating is “worth its weight in gold,” such an assertion cannot support a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation regardless of federal statutory immunity because it amounts to a general statement of opinion, not a positive assertion of fact.  An essential element of a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation is that the defendant must have made a misrepresentation as to a past or existing material fact.  The law is quite clear that expressions of opinion are not generally treated as representations of fact, and thus are not grounds for a misrepresentation cause of action.  [Quotation marks and citations omitted.]   Representations of value are opinions.  Although the line of demarcation between expressions of fact and opinion can be unclear at times, this is not such a case.  This kind of vague, highly subjective statement as to the significance of a positive rating is not the sort of statement that a consumer would interpret as factual or upon which he or she could reasonably rely.

IV.  UCL Cause of Action
Appellants’ UCL cause of action is based upon the same allegations as their negligence claim: that eBay misrepresented the forged collectibles offered for sale in its auctions; failed to furnish certificates of authenticity; was aware of the fraudulent nature of the collectibles but failed to disclose such information to consumers; and “made use of various forms of marketing and advertising to falsely advertise, call attention to, endorse, or give publicity to the sale of forged collectibles ....”  On appeal, appellants argue the sufficiency of only those allegations regarding eBay’s safety programs, seeking to distinguish them as statements made by eBay itself.  They plead eBay knew or reasonably should have known their marketing and advertising was untrue and/or misleading.  For the reasons explained above, because eBay’s liability would be based upon the misrepresentations of the individual defendants, to the extent these allegations state a cause of action, it is inconsistent with and barred by section 230.

DISPOSITION

 The judgment is affirmed.

